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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
ORLANDO DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

- CASE NO. 6:22-cr- 9O\ WWB AR
18US.C.§1344 [ =
18 U.S.C.§1349

EVAN EDWARDS 18US.C.§1014 =~
a/k/a lan Heringa 18US.C.§1546 < = -o
JOSHUA EDWARDS =
INDICTMENT S
The Grand Jury charges:
COUNT ONE

(Conspiracy to Commit Bank Fraud)

A. Introduction

At all times material to this Indictment:
1. EVAN EDWARDS a/k/a Ian Heringa resided in New Smyrna Beach,

Florida, in the Middle District of Florida.

2. JOSHUA EDWARDS resided in New Smyrna Beach, Florida, in the
Middle District of Florida. |

3. Aslan International Ministry, Inc. (“ASLAN") was a foreign not for
profit corporation doing business in Florida that EVAN EDWARDS a/k/a Ian
Heringa formed in Florida on or about June 5, 2018. ASLAN purportedly provided

religious services. The formation document listed EVAN EDWARDS a/k/a Ian
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Heringa as the chairperson, president, and registered agent of ASLAN. On or about
April 3, 2020, EVAN EDWARDS a/k/a Ian Heringa was removed as the registered
agent of ASLAN and JOSHUA EDWARDS was added as the registered agent of
ASLAN.

4. In or around March 2020, in response to the economic crisis caused by
the novel coronavirus pandemic, the United States Congress passed the Coronavirus
Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”). Among other things,
the CARES Act made available to qualified small businesses billions of dollars’
worth of government-guaranteed loans, through the Paycheck Protection Program
(the “PPP”). The purpose of PPP loans was to help small businesses that were
suffering from the economic downturn to continue to pay salary or wages to their
employees.

5. The PPP was administered by the Small Business Administration (the
“SBA™), which promulgated regulations concerning the eligibility for PPP loans.
Eligible businesses could apply for a PPP loan through a federally insured depository
mnstitution. To qualify for a loan under the PPP, an applicant had to meet certain
criteria, including, among other things, that it (the business) was “in operation on
February 15, 2020 and either had employees for whom it paid salaries and payroll

taxes or paid independent contractors, as reported on Form(s) 1099-MISC.”
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Moreover, the loan amount that could be approved under the PPP and implementing
regulations typically was a function of the applicant’s historical payroll costs.
Accordingly, to obtain a PPP loan, the applicant was required to state, among other
things, its average monthly payroll expenses and number of employees. The
applicant was also required to provide documentation of the business’s payroll
expenses.

6. PPP loan applications were processed by a participating lender. If a
PPP loan application was approved, the participating lender funded the PPP loan
using its own monies, which were 100% guaranteed by the SBA. Data from the
application, including information from the borrower, the total amount of the loan,
and the listed number of employees, was transmitted by the lender to the SBA in the
course of processing the loan.

7. The proceeds of a PPP loan could be used only for certain specified
items, such as payroll costs, costs related to the continuation of group health care
benefits, mortgage interest payments (but not mortgage prepayments or principal
payments), rent payments, utility payments, interest payments on debt obligations -
that were incurred before February 15, 2020, or refinancing certain specified SBA
loans. The proceeds of a PPP loan were not permitted to be used to fund the
borrower’s ordinary day-to-day living expenses, or anything unrelated to the

specified authorized expenses.
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8. First Home Bank, now known as BayFirst (“First Home Bank”), was a
bank the deposits of which were insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (the “FDIC”). First Home Bank therefore constituted a “financial
institution” for purposes of 18 U.S.C. §§ 20 and 1344.

B. The Scheme to Defraud

9. Beginning on an unknown date, but at least as early as on or about
April 3, 2020, and continuing through at least in or about September 17, 2020, in the
Middle District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,
EVAN EDWARDS
a/k/alan Heringa
and
JOSHUA EDWARDS,
did knowingly and willfully combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with each
other, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit bank fraud:
that is, to knowingly, and with intent to defraud, execute and attempt to execute a
scheme and artifice to defraud a financial institution and to obtain any of the
moneys, funds, credits, assets, and other property owned by, and under the custody
and control of a financial institution by means of materially false and fraudulent
pretenses, representations, and promises, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1344.
C. Manner and Means of the Conspiracy
10. The manner and means by which the conspirators sought to accomplish

the objects and purposes of the conspiracy included, among other things, the

following:
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11. It was part of the conspiracy that one or more conspirators would and
did submit and cause to be submitted a fraudulent PPP loan application to First
Home Bank on behalf of ASLAN.

12. It was further part of the conspiracy that one or more of the
conspirators would and did knowingly include in ASLAN’s PPP loan application
materially false and fraudulent representations and materially false and fraudulent
supporting documentation, including:

a. A false claim in the PPP loan application that ASLAN had
average monthly payroll expenses of $2,764,438, when in truth and in fact, as the
conspirators then and there well knew, ASLAN’s actual average monthly payroll
expenses were significantly lower, or entirely nonexistent.

b. A false claim in the PPP loan application that ASLLAN had 486
employees, when in truth and in fact, as the conspirators then and there well knew,
ASLAN’s actual number of employees was significantly lower, or entirely
nonexistent.

C. False and fabricated IRS Forms 941 that purported that hundreds
of employees were employed by ASLAN, when in truth and in fact, as the
conspirators then and there well knew, ASLAN’s actual number of employees was

significantly lower, or entirely nonexistent.
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d. False and fabricated IRS Forms 941 that purported to show
millions of dollars in quarterly wages, tips, and other compensation paid by ASLAN,
when in truth and in fact, as the conspirators then and there well knew, the actual
amount of quarterly wages, tips, and other compensation paid by ASLAN was
significantly lower, or entirely nonexistent.

e. False and fabricated IRS Forms 990 that purported to show that
ASLAN had annual revenues of $51,869,741 in 2019 and $48,235,824.00 in 2018,
when in truth and in fact, as the conspirators then and there well knew, ASLAN’s
actual annual revenues were significantly lower, or entirely nonexistent.

f. A false certification in the PPP loan application that “[t]he funds
will be used to retain workers and maintain payroll or make mortgage payments,
lease payments, and utility payments,” when in truth and in fact, as the conspirators
then and there well knew, the conspirators intended to use the PPP loan proceeds for
unauthorized purposes, including for a down payment of the attempted purchase of a
multi-million dollar residence for themselves.

g A false certification in the PPP loan application that “the
information provided in this application and the information provided in all
supporting documents and forms is true and accurate,” when in truth and in fact, as
the conspirators then and there well knew, the information provided in the PPP loan
application and supporting documentation and forms was not true and accurate in all
material respects.

13. It was further part of the conspiracy that EVAN EDWARDS a/k/a Ian
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Heringa and JOSHUA EDWARDS obtained PPP loan proceeds in the amount of
approximately $8,417,200 as a result of the materially false PPP loan application.

14. It was further part of the conspiracy that the conspirators knowingly
spent and attempted to spend a portion of those proceeds on purchases that they
knew were not authorized under the PPP, including the down payment for the
attempted purchase of a multi-million dollar residence for themselves.

15. It was further part of the conspiracy that one or more conspirators
would and did perform acts and make statement to hide and conceal, and cause to be
hidden and concealed, the purpose of the scheme and the acts committed in
furtherance of the scheme.

All in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349.

COUNT TWO
(Bank Fraud)

A. Introduction
1. The Grand Jury hereby realleges paragraphs 1 through 15 of Count One
of this Indictment and incorporates such paragraphs by this reference as though fully
set forth herein.
B. The Scheme
2. Beginning on an unknown date, but at least as early as on or about
April 3, 2020, and continuing through at least in or about September 2020, in the
Middle District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

EVAN EDWARDS
a/k/aIan Heringa

7
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and
JOSHUA EDWARDS,

aided and abetted by others, did knowingly and with intent to defraud, execute, and
attempt to execute, a scheme and artifice to defraud a financial institution and to
obtain any of the moneys, funds, credits, assets, and other property owned by, and
under the custody and control of, a financial institution, by means of materially false
and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises.
C. Manner and Means of the Scheme

3. The substance of the scheme and artifice to defraud and its matter and
means are set forth in paragraphs 9 through 15 of Count One of this Indictment, the
allegations of which are repeated and realleged as if fully set forth herein.

D. Executions of the Scheme

4, On or about April 3, 2020, in the Middle District of Florida, and

elsewhere, the defendants,

EVAN EDWARDS

a/k/aIan Heringa
and
JOSHUA EDWARDS,

aided and abetted by others, and for the purpose of knowingly, and with intent to
defraud, executing, and attempting to execute the aforementioned scheme and
artifice to defraud a financial institution, and to obtain any of the moneys, funds,

credits, assets, and other property owned by, and under the custody and control of a

financial institution, by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,
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representations, and promises, did submit and cause to be submitted a false PPP loan
application, to a financial institution, that is, First Home Bank.
All in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1344 and 2.

COUNT THREE
(False Statement to Lending Institution)

1. Paragraphs 1 through 8 of Count One of this Indictment are realleged
and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

2. On or about April 6, 2020, in the Middle District of Florida and
elsewhere, the defendant,

JOSHUA EDWARDS,

knowingly made a false statement for the purpose of influencing the actions of First
Home Bank, an institution the accounts of which were insured by the FDIC, in
connection with a PPP loan application by ASLAN, in that the defendant signed and
initialed a PPP loan application, representing that SBA loan proceeds would be used
exclusively for business related purposes and certifying that the PPP funds would be
used only to retain workers and maintain payroll or make mortgage payments, lease
payments, and utility payments on behalf of ASLAN, when in truth and in fact, as
the defendant then well knew, the SBA loan proceeds would not be used exclusively
for business related purposes and the PPP funds would not be used only to retain
workers and maintain payroll or to make mortgage payments, lease payments, and
utility payments on behalf of ASLAN.

In violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1014 and 2.
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COUNT FOUR
(Visa Fraud)

On or about June 14, 2021, in the Middle District of Florida and elsewhere,
the defendant,

EVAN EDWARDS
a/k/alan Heringa,

did knowingly make under oath, and subscribe as true under penalty of perjury, a
false statement with respect to a material fact in an application and document
required by the immigration laws and regulations prescribed thereunder, to wit,
Form 1-485, Application to Register as Permanent Resident or Adjust Status, that is,
that he had never been arrested, cited, charged or detained for any reason by any law
enforcement official, which statement the defendant then and there knew was false,
in that he had been arrested, charged, and detained by a law enforcement official on
or about September 17, 2020.

In violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1546(a).

COUNT FIVE
(Visa Fraud)

1. Paragraph 3 of Count One of this Indictment is realleged and
incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

2. On or about June 14, 2021, in the Middle District of Florida and
elsewhere, the defendant,

EVAN EDWARDS
a/k/aJan Heringa,

10
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did knowingly make under oath, and subscribe as true under penalty of petjury, a
false statement with respect to a material fact in an application and document
required by the immigration laws and regulations prescribed thereunder, to wit,
Form I-140, Immigration Petition for Alien Workers, that is, that the gross annual
income of ASLAN was $1,358,728, which statement the defendant then and there
knew was false, in that the gross annual income of ASLAN was lower than that
amount.

In violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1546(a).

COUNT SIX
(Visa Fraud)

On or about June 14, 2021, in the Middle District of Florida and elsewhere,

the defendant,
JOSHUA EDWARDS,

did knowingly make under oath, and subscribe as true under penalty of perjury, a
false statement with respect to a material fact in an application and document
required by the immigration laws and regulations prescribed thereunder, to wit,
Form I-485, Application to Register as Permanent Resident or Adjust Status, that is,
that he had never been arrested, cited, charged or detained for any reason by any law
enforcement official, which statement the defendant then and there knew was false,
in that he had been arrested, charged, and detained by a law enforcement official on
or about September 17, 2020.

In violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1546(a).

11
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FORFEITURE

1. The allegations contained in Counts One, Two, and Three are
incorporated by reference for the purpose of alleging forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 982(a)(2)(A). The allegations contained in Counts Four, Five, and Six are
incorporated by reference for the purpose of alleging forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 982(a)(6).

2. Upon conviction of a violation of 18 U.S.C §§ 1349, 1344 and/or 1014,
the defendant shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(2)(A),
any property constituting, or derived from, proceeds obtained directly or indirectly,
as a result of such violation.

3. Upon conviction of a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1546, the defendant shall
forfeit to the United States, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(6):

a. Any conveyance, including any vessel, vehicle, or aircraft used in
the commission of the offense;

b. Any property, real or personal, that constitutes, or is derived
from or is traceable to the proceeds obtained directly or indirectly from
the commission of the offense; and

C. Any property that is used to facilitate, or is intended to be used
to facilitate, the commission of the offense.

4. If any of the property described above, as a result of any act or omission
of the defendant:

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

12
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b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

5 has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;
d. has been substantially diminished in value; or
e has been commingled with other property which cannot be

divided without difficulty,
the United States shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property under the

provisions of 21 U.S.C § 853(p), as incorporated by 18 U.S.C § 982(b)(1).

ROGER B. HANDBERG
Umted States Attorney

v/<m y /4

ar M. Wick
As31stant United States Attorney

By: \/L/A»//l A %

hauncey A. Bratt
Assistant United States Attorney
Deputy Chief, Orlando Division

13
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
Middle District of Florida
Orlando Division

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

VS.

EVAN EDWARDS
a/k/a Ian Heringa
JOSHUA EDWARDS

INDICTMENT

Violation:

18 U.S.C. § 1344
18 U.S.C. § 1349
18 U.S.C. § 1014
18 U.S.C. § 1546

Filed in open court this 7th day of December, 2022.
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